



"Russia's War in Ukraine: Perspectives in China, India and Singapore"

Report



Authors

Lelde Luik (PhD) is a researcher at the Center who focuses on the study of democracy. At the moment, she is focusing on the idea of cultural and political clashes regarding the concept of "democracy" between certain Asian and Western countries in the context of the war in Ukraine and Russia's aggression there.

Agnieszka Nitza-Makowska (PhD) works as a researcher at the University of Tartu Asia Centre and Collegium Civitas, a Polish University. Her current research focuses mainly on two topics: the soft power of China and India, and the impact of Putin's blackmail on the perception of nuclear weapons in South Asia (especially India and Pakistan). She also examines China's environmental diplomacy and its use as soft power.

Kikee Doma Bhutia (PhD) is a researcher at the Center. Her research focuses on conceptualizing national identity, redefining the significance of vernacular symbols, and understanding the perspectives and ideas of belonging in different communities.

Anastasia Sinitsyna is a researcher at the Center, who has long been involved in analyzing the commonalities between the economy and migration. She is currently researching the economic and social impact of Asian migration to the Nordic and Baltic countries. In particular, she wants to understand labor market differences between groups of immigrants from Asian countries.

Elo Süld (PhD) is the head of the University of Tartu Asia Centre and a lecturer in Islamic Studies at the Faculty of Religion. The focus of her research is the religious diversity of Islam. She also studies geopolitical changes and the influence of the Asian region in Estonia.

Asia Centre

Asia Center is a research and competence center, whose goal is to support the understanding of Asian and Middle Eastern cultures and political trends in Estonia and the economic and social development potential of Estonia. The Center does this by mediating knowledge of the Middle East and Asia, bringing together researchers and experts from various fields and participating in international cooperation networks.

University of Tartu

the world.

The University of Tartu, founded in 1632, is the largest and oldest university in Estonia. The university offers research-based solutions to crucial global problems and helps to advance Estonian society and economy with its knowledge and skills. The university cultivates important research trends in Estonia and supports cooperation between top researchers and entrepreneurs in order to create a supportive environment for achieving sustainable goals, which is why it is an important partner for the state and companies.

At the national international university, students can choose from nearly **160** study programs located in four fields of the university. People from almost **90** countries study and work at the University of Tartu. The University of Tartu is the only university in the Baltic States among the top **1%** of universities in



Recent publications

Scientific article

Agnieszka Nitza Makowska (2022). Can the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor help Beijing Win Pakistanis' hearts and minds? Reviewing higher education as an instrument of Chinese soft power in Pakistan. International Journal of Cultural Policy, 28(3), 274-289.

Available:: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10286632.2021.1962849

Agnieszka Nitza Makowska (2023). **India and the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor.** In Global India (pp. 30-46). Routledge.

Available:

https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9781003305132-4/india-china%E2%80%93pakistan-economic-corridor-agnieszka-nitza-makowska

Anastasia Sinitsyna. "Chinese and Indian Entrepreneurs in Helsinki: What are the factors for success?". Novaator.

Lelde Luik (2023). Liberaalset rahvusvahelist korda vaidlustamas? Aasia riikide reaktsioone Venemaa sissetungile Ukrainasse. Diplomaatia

Available:

https://diplomaatia.ee/lelde-luik-liberaalset-rahvusvahelist-korda-vaidlustamas-aasia-riikide-reaktsioone-venemaa-sissetungile-ukrainasse/

Kikee Doma Bhutia. **Baltic attitudes: Estonian and Lithuanian Foreign Policy towards China.** Upcoming. NUS East Asian Institute, Singapore.

Kikee Doma Bhutia (2023). **Examining 'vernacular' symbols and symbolic power in the crisis context.** Upcoming. Journal of Ethnology and Folkloristics (JEF).

Kikee Doma Bhutia (2023). **Maailma kahe suurriigi – India ja Hiina – vastasseis Himaalaja piirkonnas.** Diplomaatia

Available:

https://diplomaatia.ee/kikee-doma-bhutia-maailma-kahe-suurriigi-india-ja-hiina-vastasseis-hi **Reparts**piirkonnas/

Heidi Maiberg; Urmas Hõbepappel; Elo Süld; Eiki Berg; Merilin Kiviorg; Meelis Kitsing; Urmas Varblane; Rain Ottis; Anna Broughel; Maili Vilson; Riina Kerner; Einari Kisel; Andres Siirde; Gaygysyz Ashyrov; Mathias Juust; Anna-Maria Osula; Adrian Venables; Erkki Koort; (2022). **Eesti ja Aasia tulevikusuhete raport.** (1–43). '13.06.2022.

Available: https://aasiakeskus.ut.ee/et/sisu/eesti-ja-aasia-tulevikusuhete-raport and the document (in Estonian)



Table of Contents

1. Int	roduction	4
2. China and Russia's war in Ukraine		4
	2.1 How does China practice its neutrality?	4
	2.2 What drives China's stance on the Russian war in Ukraine?	5
	2.3 Conclusion: Can China win the war for itself?	6
3. India and Russia's war in Ukraine		7
	3.1 India's neutrality and the partnership with the West	7
	3.2 What drives India's stance on the Russian war in Ukraine?	7
	3.3 Conclusion: Can India solve the contradictions in its stance towards Russia?	8
4. Sir	4. Singapore and Russia's war in Ukraine	
	3.3 Potential shift in Singapore's long-standing neutrality policy	8
	4.2 What drives Singapore's stance on the Russian war in Ukraine?	9
	4.3 Conclusion: Can Singapore be the partner in Asia that West expects?	10
5. Ma	5. Main Conclusions	
Refe	References	



1. Introduction

Russia's war in Ukraine has unravelled much of the existing global order, and posed new, serious challenges to the existing modes of international cooperation (Sazonov & Saumets, 2022). One such challenge concerns the perception of the war in Asia and the geopolitical dynamics between Asia and the European Union. If the condemnation of Russia by the EU has been almost unanimous, in Asia, and in two of its major powers China and India specifically, the attitude has been much more ambiguous. The report takes a closer look on the narratives on Russia's war in Ukraine in China, India as well as Singapore and examines the key driving factors behind these narratives. China's and India's response to the war is characterized by neutrality that, however, is viewed to be implicitly embracing the pro-Russian perspective on the war. While China has abstained to explicitly express support to Russia, its critique of the U.S. continues to underline China's response to the Ukraine war. Just as China, India positions itself as a neutral side in the conflict, with a similar potential to use the role of a mediator as a means of advancing its national interests. However, this approach to conflict is more pragmatically driven and based on its perceived national interests rather than strategic competition with the U.S., as demonstrated by China. At the same time, India's position on the conflict also reflects its long-term close relationship with Russia and strained relationship with China. In Singapore, as in China and India, the dominant response to the war is the call for the rule-based international order and the importance of territorial sovereignty. In contrast to the larger Asian powers, Singapore, however, much more explicitly has condemned Russia, and, perhaps in a more surprising turn to its long-term neutrality policy, more openly embraced the U.S. role in the conflict. Nevertheless, by emphasizing the importance of rule of law for small states' survival, Singapore has avoided to frame the war as a 'democracy vs. autocracy' and the fight for politically liberal values that is an important dimension for viewing the war in Europe.

2. China and Russia's war in Ukraine

Beijing has sought to remain neutral on Russia's aggression against Ukraine, numerous times calling for a peaceful solution to the war. While in Europe such a position is commonly labelled 'pro-Russian neutrality' or 'so-called neutrality', the perspective of China and many other states in Asia differs, as instead of picking a side in the war, they have prioritized their own national interest. This difference in perception underscores that the Western perspective on the war is not the global one.

2.1 How does China practice its neutrality?

While China's behavior in the international arena is to some extent shrouded by a lack of transparency and data contradictions, the available sources confirm that Beijing has not provided Russia with military support in its aggression against Ukraine. Though some sources in Washington have claimed that Vladimir Putin requested such assistance, Beijing has denied this (Wong and Barnes, 2022).

However, China has offered Russia significant diplomatic backing. Beijing has demonstrated such support through its stance in the series of historic UN General Assembly votes related to the war. Notably, China abstained in the UN vote to condemn Russia's aggression in March 2022 and voted



against Moscow's suspension from the UN Human Rights Council in April 2022, which occurred just after the release of pictures of hundreds of civilian bodies in the streets of Bucha. Ahead of the anniversary of the Russian invasion, Beijing confirmed its stance by abstaining on the UN resolution calling for Russia's withdrawal from Ukraine.

This behaviour on the part of Beijing aligns with its rhetorical support for Moscow. Chinese state-owned media tends to parrot the Russian narrative on the war by refusing to use words such as 'war' and 'aggression' to refer to Moscow's behaviour on Ukrainian soil and claiming that the US is the leading actor behind the war. For instance, China's state news agency Xinhua has notoriously labeled the war 'a special military operation', 'the Russia-Ukraine crisis' and 'the conflict'. Moreover, by spreading anti-American propaganda, Xinhua helps publicize the Russian conspiracy theory about US-funded biological laboratories in Ukraine supposedly aimed at developing 'dangerous pathogens, plague, anthrax, cholera and other deadly diseases' and emphasizes Washington's role in 'adding fuel to the fire' in the war².

In the economic domain, Beijing has refused to join in on the Western-led sanctions on Russia for its aggression against Ukraine. The Chinese government has recognized these sanctions as unilateral and illegal since the UN Security Council, where Beijing and Moscow have veto power, has not officially approved them. Indeed, China has even deepened its energy cooperation with Russia by taking advantage of the latter's lower oil and gas prices: in 2022, China spent \$81.3 billion (up from \$52.1 billion the year prior) on Russian oil, coal, LNG, and pipeline gas imports, with 71.8 percent of this spending on oil (Downs and Mitrova, 2023). Capitalizing on Moscow's economic isolation and their consequent ability to secure cheaper contracts, China and India—another "neutral" with respect to the war and a country with a massive thirst for energy—have to a vast extent replaced Western states as destinations for Russian exports of energy resources. In this way, China and India have decreased the efficacy of Western-led sanctions and their potentially harmful impact on the Russian economy and regime.

2.2 What drives China's stance on the Russian war in Ukraine?

The pursuit of its own national interest is a motivation behind China's position on the war. In this context, the most potent drivers are grouped and described below:

1. Geopolitics

- China-US competition. To an enormous extent, China sees the war through the lens of its geopolitical rivalry with the US. This perspective prevents Beijing from siding with its competitors in Washington and Brussels or their allies.
- Taiwan. Beijing is suspected to be learning from Moscow's experiences in the war with an
 eye toward invading Taiwan in the future. Such a conflict would profoundly transform the
 global security architecture and the fragile power balance between the US and China.

¹ Russia urges U.S. to explain purpose of biological labs in Ukraine (2022, March 10), Xinhua, https://english.news.cn/20220310/cc54ee1b0e654831938a933bf1f621fd/c.html

² Washington's role in Russia-Ukraine conflict jeopardizes world stability (2022, April 7), Xinhua, https://english.news.cn/20220407/2198235e37784589bb7f7bccfb131ae2/c.html



- 2. <u>China's energy demand at home</u>. As China is the world's largest energy importer and consumer, its vital energy relationship with Russia is a significant component of the 'no-limits' friendship between the two states announced by Xi Jinping and Vladimir Putin ahead of the war.
- 3. <u>Indirect normative drive</u>. While China and most states in Asia do not see the war in Ukraine through the prism of the democracy-autocracy divide, if Beijing were to side with Washington, it could enforce the Western liberal world order, which would not serve China's national interest. Moreover, Beijing needs Moscow on its side to undermine this order, though it refuses to express such ambitions directly.

2.3 Conclusion: Can China win the war for itself?

China's standing and actions can significantly affect the trajectory of Russia's war in Ukraine and the related international dynamics. While Beijing pursues its national interest, voices in the West, including international relations experts and policymakers, expect Beijing to negotiate with Moscow due to Xi's connection with Putin and the states' 'no-limits' friendship, a link that no Western parties have. Beijing waited to release its 12-point peace plan until the first anniversary of the Russian invasion, calling for³:

- 1. Respect for the sovereignty of all countries,
- 2. Abandonment of the Cold War mentality,
- 3. The cessation of hostilities,
- 4. The resumption of peace talks,
- 5. The resolution of the humanitarian crisis.
- 6. Protection of civilians and prisoners of war (POWs),
- 7. The securing of nuclear power plants,
- 8. A reduction in strategic risks,
- 9. The facilitation of grain exports,
- 10. An end to unilateral sanctions,
- 11. Stabilization of industrial and supply chains, and
- 12. Promotion of post-conflict reconstruction.

While this plan refers to numerous dimensions of Russia's aggression and encompasses general statements calling for improvements in the humanitarian situation in Ukraine and prevention of nuclear proliferation, it also mirrors China's standing vis-a-vis the war thus far. Paradoxically, while China is not a direct party in the war, it can win it for itself politically, diplomatically and economically by effectively acting as a negotiator focused on brokering a peace defined predominantly by its own national interest.

³ China's Position on the Political Settlement of the Ukraine Crisis (2023, February 24), https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_eng/zxxx_662805/202302/t20230224_11030713.html.



3. India and Russia's war in Ukraine

As one of the world's largest democracies and an important U.S. strategic partner in the region, India has responded unexpectedly too the Russian invasion of Ukraine. Despite its discomfort with Moscow's war, New Delhi has adopted a study of 'neutrality' (Tellis, 2022) towards Russia. Throughout the UN Security Council, General Assembly, and Human Rights Council, it has abstained from voting to condemn Russian aggression in Ukraine. As of yet, it has not openly blamed Russia for the crisis. Even though internationally, India received backlashes yet this around multiple other questions such as the western hegemony, imperiality, axis of power etc.

3.1 India's neutrality and the partnership with the West

The West has criticized India's neutral stance. The neutrality of India in the Washington DC and Brussels has been seen as disappointing since it reflects a fundamental misunderstanding regarding the legitimacy of using force in a war of conquest to occupy another nation's territory. Instead, most strategic elites would admit that diplomatic neutrality ultimately signifies a subtle pro-Moscow stance⁴. The incongruity is particularly stark because India opposes Chinese assertiveness in the Indo-Pacific and seems tolerant of the more egregious Russian aggression in Europe.

3.2 What drives India's stance on the Russian war in Ukraine?

Multiple perspectives should be considered crucial in understanding India's neutral position. Firstly, India's non-aligned foreign policy (Harshe, 1990) contributes to its neutrality. Secondly, India's historical relationship with Russia cannot be ignored, especially in the context of India's strained relationship with China. Throughout history, Russia has used its veto to protect India from international resolutions on Kashmir, India's invasion of Goa, and the 1971 war with Pakistan that led to the birth of Bangladesh. In addition to abstaining from voting against the Soviet invasions of Czechoslovakia and Afghanistan, India abstained on several votes condemned by the United Nations

The key aspect of India's foreign policy is maintaining close ties with many countries and with Russia specifically as state that provides arms and military to both India and China. Furthermore, India's public neutrality towards the Russian invasion is driven by its concerns vis-à-vis China and Pakistan. These two states present immediate and enduring threat to New Delhi. Additionally, the ongoing border clashes have generated further distrust and an anger between China and India. China's interference in the border region through infrastructure building and sending force to create clashes has disturbed people's peace and sanctity (Bhutia, 2023). By preserving its friendship with Moscow, it hopes to prevent Russia from strengthening its ties with China and limit its temptation to build new strategic ties with Pakistan.

As a result, New Delhi strives to minimize Moscow's proximity to both of its rivals. In order to prevent a new dalliance between Moscow and Islamabad, which would undermine India's core interests, it has concluded that studiously avoiding any open criticism of Russia is the best way to

⁴ Suchit NairRajesh Sharma 2022, Times of India, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/toi-plus/author-rajeshsh arma-479254837



arrest the tightening Sino-Russian embrace. Thus, today, India's posture is fundamentally consistent with previous forbearance towards Russian aggressions in the past, for example, Hungary in 19561, Czechoslovakia in 1968, and Afghanistan in 1979.

3.3 Conclusion: Can India solve the contradictions in its stance towards Russia

With all this in mind, Indian policymakers know the risks associated with their current public neutrality toward Russia. India's neutrality positions it as an ally of the despotic Russian state personified by Vladimir Putin rather than Russia, the country itself. When India's most prominent international economic-strategic partners have come together to penalize Russia, India's posture on Ukraine is at odds with its determination to protect the rules-based order in the Indo-Pacific over those in Europe. It exposes the inconsistency in India's commitment to preserving the rules-based order in the Indo-Pacific.

Moreover, it leaves India in the company of strange bedfellows like China and Pakistan, which are India's adversaries and have behaved similarly toward India. Therefore, during the UNSC Resolution on Ukraine (2022), Ambassador Tirumurti, India's Permanent Representative to the UN, called for an immediate cessation of violence. In addition, he regrets "the fact that diplomacy was abandoned" and urges the concerned states to "return to it." He reiterates that "dialogue is the only way to resolve conflicts and differences, no matter how daunting that may seem at the moment." (Economic Times: "India calls for immediate cessation of violence in Ukraine in UN session"; Last Updated 2022). When Subrahmanyam Jaishankar, India's External Affairs Minister, commented in the parliamentary debate on Ukraine in a coded manner, he reiterated the Indian position that "international law, [the] UN Charter, and respect for territorial integrity and sovereignty are the foundations of the global order." (Tellis 2022).

4. Singapore and Russia's war in Ukraine

In Southeast Asia, the responses to Russia's invasion of Ukraine have been characterized by the common element of calling for peace but avoiding taking a side in the conflict. This position has been explained by a significant degree of economic and military presence of Russia, the geographical distance from Eastern Europe, and the wish to avoid any direct confrontation between the U.S. and China (Luik, 2023).

4.1 Potential shift in Singapore's long-standing neutrality policy

The avoidance of being involved in potential geopolitical conflicts, and diplomatic neutrality has been characteristic of Singapore and its foreign policy, based on its position in the global markets as well as domestic context. In terms of the global economy, Singapore has positioned itself as a middle ground in the U.S. and China trade relations and has even been called a 'China whisperer' (Hutt, 2022). Despite its small size, Singapore has been able to carve itself a substantial economic role, earning high trust from foreign investors. In this way, one of the key threats for Singapore is what its leaders have described as a possibility of a new Cold War in relations between the U.S. and China⁵. Domestically, the majority of Singapore citizens are of Chinese descent, which contributes



to closer economic, cultural and also political relationship between the two states. At the same time, Singapore has developed a long-standing, important link with the U.S., which it continues to emphasize (Panda, 2020).

However, despite the tradition of political neutrality in its foreign policy as well as the general non-inference approach in Southeast Asia or the 'ASEAN Way', Singapore has been very direct in its condemnation of Russia's action. Singapore's official foreign policy statements have explicitly underlined the "benign and constructive presence of the U.S." (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2022a) in the international order, while describing Russia's invasion in Ukraine "as a full-frontal assault on the UN Charter, on a formula which has enabled generally, peace, order, security, and prosperity for decades" (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2022a). Furthermore, Singapore has been among the most proactive states in imposing sanctions on Russia in the international arena (Kliem & Cheng Wei, 2022). In contrast, China has been quite critical of the U.S. in the context of the war, though the statements have been rather implicit, as has been discussed in this report above. Nevertheless, China's overall position is characterized by the notion that the U.S. uses the war in Ukraine in order to promote its own interests. Thus, Singapore's perspective has been much more positive and engaging vis-à-vis the U.S. and the overall perception of the war in the West.

4.2 What drives Singapore's stance on the Russian war in Ukraine?

In the context of its long-standing neutrality, specifically in relation to the U.S. – China axis, the strong position regarding the war in Singapore may appear surprising. Singapore's political leaders have addressed this mismatch between its perceived interests by very markedly emphasizing the scale and severity of Russia's actions for the role of small states in global politics. While similarly to other Asian states, Singapore has invoked the importance of observing territorial sovereignty and international norms, its leaders' rhetoric has been more forceful and concrete in this regard. One of the key messages was that for "small states like Singapore, the principles of the UN Charter and international law are not matters of academic debate; they are a matter of life and death" (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2022b).

Russia's actions in Ukraine thus are framed as an almost existential threat to the world order in Singapore's perspective, where "a system based on the idea that might is right is simply unacceptable" (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2022b). The U.S. is characterized as "a benign and constructive presence" that has ensured conditions for the fast and global economic growth of countries such as Singapore. Singapore is the exception among its ASEAN peers in its explicit and repeated condemnation of Russia, and its historical imposition of unilateral sanctions illustrate that such stance extends more than in simply rhetorical level (Tong, 2022). In the official statements, Russia's actions have been described as a "a direct, frontal assault on the rules-based multilateral system which emerged post-Second World War, and has been a recipe for peace, coexistence, and prosperity" (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2022c). In the view of Singapore's past approach to global geopolitics, its strong stance on the Ukraine war indicates new potential shifts in its foreign policy. This change has left some observers to question Singapore's long-held neutrality, especially in relation to the U.S. – China relationship dynamic (Hutt, 2022).

Singapore, like other Southeast Asian states and more forcefully so, opposes the historical revisionism of territorial borders and the use of military force. Significantly, Singaporean Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong has warned against isolating China in the context of the war in Ukraine by framing the conflict "as a battle between democracies and autocracies" (Heijmans, 2022).



The characterization of the U.S. and Russia by Singapore illustrates that its position on the Ukraine war is embedded in economic liberalism and the international norms that are perceived to enforce this order.

4.3 Conclusion: Can Singapore be the partner in Asia that West expects?

A key part in the economic globalization is the avoidance of what Singapore and other states in region describe as a "clash of civilizations", which would draw new "red lines" in global markets (Stromseth, 2019). Yet this approach of economic liberalism does not equal embrace of the language of democracy and political liberalism. Thus there are important differences between the way the war in Ukraine is understood in the U.S., Baltic states or in the EU, which concerns the notion of the fight in Ukraine as one of freedom and democracy versus autocratic, imperialist-revisionist power. So, on the one hand, Singapore's position reflects the more general plea of the possibility for smaller states to impact global politics, instead of being at the mercy of realist power politics. On the other hand, this plea is much less based on the defense of certain political values, such as democracy, which appears to be a much more significant context for the war in the Western hemisphere.



5. Main Conclusions

- The available sources confirm that Beijing has not provided Russia with military support in
 its aggression against Ukraine. However, China has offered Russia significant diplomatic
 backing. Furthermore, Chinese state-owned media tends to parrot the Russian narrative on
 the war by refusing to use words such as 'war' and 'aggression' to refer to Moscow's
 behaviour on Ukrainian soil.
- Capitalizing on Moscow's economic isolation and their consequent ability to secure cheaper contracts, China and India have to a vast extent replaced Western states as destinations for Russian exports of energy resources. In this way, China and India have decreased the efficacy of Western-led sanctions and their potentially harmful impact on the Russian economy and regime.
- China sees the war through the lens of its geopolitical rivalry with the US. This perspective prevents Beijing from siding with its competitors in Washington and Brussels or their allies. If Beijing were to side with Washington, it could enforce the Western liberal world order, which would not serve China's national interest. Moreover, Beijing needs Moscow on its side to undermine this order, though it refuses to express such ambitions directly.,
- India's public neutrality towards the Russian invasion is driven fundamentally by its
 concerns vis-à-vis China and Pakistan. By preserving its friendship with Moscow, it hopes
 to prevent Russia from strengthening its ties with China and limit its temptation to build
 new strategic ties with Pakistan. India's posture is fundamentally consistent with its
 previous forbearance towards Russia's aggressions in the past.
- When India's most prominent international economic-strategic partners have come
 together to penalise Russia, India's position on Ukraine exposes the inconsistency in India's
 commitment to preserving the rules-based order in the Indo-Pacific. Moreover, it leaves
 India in the company of strange bedfellows like China and Pakistan, which are India's
 adversaries and have behaved similarly toward India.
- Despite the tradition of political neutrality in Singapore's foreign policy, its close economic relationship with China as well as the general non-inference approach in Southeast Asia or the 'ASEAN Way', Singapore has been very direct in its condemnation of Russia. Thus, Singapore's perspective has been much more positive and engaging vis-à-vis the U.S. and the overall perception of the war in the West, as opposed to the neutrality positions adopted by India and China.
- While Singapore's position reflects commitment to rule-based order and the possibility for smaller states to impact global politics, this plea is much less based on the defense of certain political values, such as democracy, which appears to be a much more significant context for the war in the Western hemisphere.



References

Bhutia, Kikee Doma (2023). The Confrontation between the world's two superpowers - India and China- in the Himalayan region. Diplomaatia. Available: https://diplomaatia.ee/kikee-doma-bhutia-maailma-kahe-suurriigi-india-ja-hiina-vastasseis-himaalaja-piirkonnas/

Downs E., and Mitrova T. (2023, February 23). China-Russia Energy Relations One Year after the Invasion of Ukraine. Available: https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/qa-china-russia-energy-relations-one-year-after-the-invasion-of-ukraine/.

Harshe, R. (1990). India's Non-Alignment: An Attempt at Conceptual reconstruction. Economic and Political Weekly. 25 (%). 399 - 405.

Heijmans, P. (2022, April 11). Singapore's Lee Warns U.S. Against Isolating China Over Ukraine.

Bloomberg.Com. Available:

https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-04-11/singapore-s-lee-warns-u-s-against-isolating-china-over-ukraine

Hutt, D. (2022, April 28). Has the West found a geopolitical ally in Singapore? Dw.Com. Available:

https://www.dw.com/en/has-the-west-found-an-asian-geopolitical-ally-in-singapore/a-61618630

Kliem, F., & Cheng Wei, I. S. (2022, August 27). Should ASEAN Take a Stronger Position on the Ukraine War? The Diplomat. Available: https://thediplomat.com/2022/08/should-asean-take-a-stronger-position-on-the-ukraine-war/

Luik, L. (2023, February 3). Liberaalset rahvusvahelist korda vaidlustamas? Aasia riikide reaktsioone Venemaa sissetungile Ukrainasse. Diplomaatia. Available: https://diplomaatia.ee/lelde-luik-liberaalset-rahvusvahelist-korda-vaidlustamas-aasia-riikide-reaktsioone-venemaa-sissetun gile-ukrainasse/

Ministry of Foreign Affairs. (2022a, September 24). Transcript of Minister for Foreign Affairs Dr Vivian Balakrishnan's Engagement at Asia Society, 23 September 2022. Available: http://www.mfa.gov.sg/Newsroom/Press-Statements-Transcripts-andPhotos/2022/09/20220924-Asia-Society-2022

Ministry of Foreign Affairs. (2022b, October 10). Statement by Ambassador Burhan Gafoor, permanent representative of the Republic of Singapore at the 11th Emergency Special session of United Nations General Assembly, October 10 2022. Available: http://www.mfa.gov.sg/Overseas-Mission/New-York/Mission-Updates/General_assembly/2022/10/20221010

Nayadu, Swapna Kona (2015). Responses to Russian Interventionism: India and the Question of Hungary, 1956 and Crimea, 2014. Foreign Policy and Security. Available: https://casi.sas.upenn.edu/hindi/iit/responses-russian-interventionism-india-and-questions-hungary-1956-and-crimea-2014

Panda, A. (2020, April 16). Singapore: A Small Asian Heavyweight. Council on Foreign Relations. Available: https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/singapore-small-asian-heavyweight



Sazonov, V., & Saumets, A. (2022). Putin's War in Ukraine. The Background and Anatomy of Russian Aggression. Estonian Journal of Military Studies.

Stromseth, J. (2019). Don't make us choose: Southeast Asia in the throes of US-China rivalry. Brookings Institution, 34.

Tellis, A. J. (2022). "What is in our Interest": India and Ukraine War. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. 1 - 7.

Tong, G. C. (2022, March 31). Singapore's stance on Russia shows support for sanctions isn't limited to the West, says think tank. CNBC. Available: https://www.cnbc.com/2022/03/31/russia-u kraine-war-poses-existential-stakes-for-singapore.html

Wong E., and Barnes J. E. (2022, March 13). Russia Asked China for Military and Economic Aid for Ukraine War, U.S. Officials Say, New York Times. Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/03/13/us/politics/russia-china-ukraine.html.